FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/22/2020 2:18 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/23/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98807-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals, Division II No. 53804-1-II

THE CHURCH OF THE DIVINE EARTH

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Richard B. Sanders, WSBA No. 2813 Carolyn A. Lake, WSBA No. 13980 Attorneys for Petitioner Goodstein Law Group PLLC 501 South G Street Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 779-4000

Email: <u>rsanders@goodsteinlaw.com</u> clake@goodsteinlaw.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V. ARGUMENT5
A. Review Should be granted because the Court of Appeals Opinion conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent on the meaning of "personal information" referenced in RCW 42.56.230, and raises an issue of substantial public interest which may only be resolved by the Supreme Court
B. Review should be granted because performance evaluations under existing precedent, including <i>Dawson</i> , are not categorically presumed to be highly offensive regardless of content
C. Review should be granted because facts regarding job performance of powerful City department heads are of legitimate concern to the public, based on inconsistence Court of Appeals Division III precedent.
D. Review should be granted because the Opinion's failure to enforce the "brief explanation" requirement of RCW 42.56.210(3) violates Supreme Court precedent
VI. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Cowles Publ'g Co. v. State Patrol, 109 Wn.2d 712, 726, 748 P.2d 597 (1988) 10
Dawson v. Daly, 120 Wn.2d 782, 797 (1993)passim
Federal Way v. Koenig, 167 Wn.2d 341, 344, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009)6
Hearst Corp., v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 580 P.2d 246 (1978)
Lakewood v. Koenig, 182 Wn.2d 87, 343 P.3d 335 (2014)14, 17
Ollie v. Highland School District 203, 50 Wn.App. 639, 645, 749 P.2d 747, rev. den'd, 110 Wn.2d 1040 (1988)
Predisik v. Spokane School Dist. No. 81, 182 Wn.2d 896, 904 346 P.3d 737 (2015)
Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 257-58, 884 P.2d 592 (1994)
Rental Housing Ass'n of Puget Sound v. Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 527, 199 P.3d 393 (2009)
Sanders v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 240 P.3d 120 (2010)
Spokane Police Guild v. Liquor Control Board, 112 Wn.2d 30, 38, 769 P.2d 283 (1989)
Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of Spokane, 99 Wn.App. 452, 453, 994 P.2d 267 (Div. 3, 2000)
Washington Public Employees Ass'n v. Washington State Center for Childhood,
Wn.2d, 450 P.3d 601, 608 (Wash. 2019)9, 13
West v. Port of Olympia, 183 Wn.App. 306, 311, 333 P.3d 488 (2014)7, 11
Statutes
Laws of 1987, ch. 403, Sec. 2 at 15479
RCW 42.56.030
RCW 42.56.050
RCW 42.56.210(3)
RCW 42.56.230
RCW 42.56.230(3)
RCW 42.56.550(1)
Other Authorities
Restatement (Second) of Torts sec. 652D., at 383 (1977)
Rules
RAP 12.36
DAD 12 4

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Church of the Divine Earth through its attorney Richard B. Sanders files this petition.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the published Court of Appeals Division II decision No. 53804-I-II filed on June 23, 2020 with an Order Granting Motion to Publish Opinion and Publishing Opinion.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Does *Dawson v. Daly*, 120 Wn.2d 782, 797, 845 P.2d 995 (1993)¹ create a categorical exemption in the PRA for employee evaluations regardless of content?
- В.
- 1. Are records of public job performance "personal information" as defined in RCW 42.56.230?
- 2. Would public release of these documents "be highly offensive to a reasonable person" as per RCW 42.56.050?
- 3. And are job records of powerful municipal department heads not of legitimate concern to the public as per RCW 42.56.050?
- C. If so, should *Dawson* be overruled?
- D. Are requests for employee evaluations under the PRA exempt from the brief explanation requirement of RCW 42.56.210(3) because they are categorically exempt under *Dawson*?

¹ Overruled in part on other grounds by *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 257-58, 884 P.2d 592 (1994)

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Church filed a Public Records Act (PRA) request with the City of Tacoma seeking "job performance evaluations, comments on job performance, document showing salary from City for each of the past 5 years for Peter Huffman and Curtis Kingsolver." Eventually the City responded with the salary information however redacted all 122 pages of responsive information from job performance evaluation forms for both department heads. An accompanying privilege log justified all redactions with a single code absent any specific factual information by reference to the following:

EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS (NO SPECIFIC MISCONDUCT)—

These records, consisting of performance evaluations which do not discuss specific instances of misconduct, are protected from disclosure and have been withheld in their entirety based on the following authority:

RCW 42.56.230 Personal Information

(3) Personal information in files maintained for employees, appointees, or elected officials of any public agency to the extent that disclosure would violate their right to privacy.

RCW 42.56.050 Invasion of privacy, when.

A person's "right to privacy," "privacy," or "personal privacy," as these terms are used in this chapter, is invaded or violated only if disclosure of information about the person: (1) Would be highly offensive to a reasonable person, and (2) is not of legitimate

2

² Each are powerful department heads with considerable discretionary authority over private applicants for land use permits. Peter Huffman is Director of Planning and Development Services whereas Curtis Kingsolver is Director of Public Works.

concern to the public. The provisions of this chapter dealing with the right to privacy in certain public records do not create any right of privacy beyond those rights that are specified in this chapter as express exemptions from the public's right to inspect, examine or copy public records.

-AND-

Dawson v. Daly, 120 Wn.2d 782, 797 (1993)

The Church filed suit to compel disclosure of the redacted material and to contest failure of the privilege log to comply with the brief explanation requirement of RCW 42.56.210(3).

The trial court granted the Church's request for in camera review of unredacted documents; however, after that review the case was reassigned to a different judge, Hon. Grant Blinn, who heard the City's motion for summary judgment of dismissal and declined the Church's request to also review the unredacted documents. Judge Blinn granted the City's motion dismissing both the claim on the merits and the separate claim alleging violation of RCW 42.56.210(3)'s brief explanation requirement.

Material redacted included job productivity, work quality, adherence to deadlines and work schedules, efficiency, work attendance, pursuit of self-development, meeting needs of internal and external customers, ability to work with others, keeping projects on schedule, examples of work performance in various categories, examples of

leadership communication and coordination, use of website, efforts to promote diversity, attendance at seminars and conferences, effect of training on job performance, challenges, solving difficult problems, etc. In short, *nothing* related to the private life of these department heads and *everything* related to their public job performance. The public was denied any information regarding the job performance, good or bad, of these powerful department heads.

The whole cover up turned on construction and application of *Dawson*. Judge Blinn struggled with confusing and seemingly self-contradictory language in the opinion ultimately concluding the opinion created a categorical exemption for performance evaluations *regardless of content*, **even if they contained no "personal information"** as required by RCW 42.56.230(3) and defined even by *Dawson*, 120 Wn.2d at 796 as "the intimate details of one's personal and private life."

Further the City included no "brief explanation" of how the redacted material fit within the claimed exemption, reasoning none was required because it didn't matter since "performance evaluations" were categorically exempt under *Dawson* regardless of content. Facts just didn't matter.

This *published* decision of the Court of Appeals affirmed based wholly on *Dawson*.

While case law provides definition to the terms "personal information," the Opinion summarily declined to engage in any analysis of how the facts and information contained in the evaluations factually fit within *any* definition of "personal information". Rather the Opinion quoted *Dawson* summarily stating "Employee evaluations qualify as *personal information* that bears on the competence of the subject employees." (emphasis added by Court of Appeals) 120 Wn.2d at 797 End of discussion. This assertion ignores *Dawson's* language "that the right to privacy applies 'only to the intimate details of one's personal and private life" *Dawson*, 120 Wn.2d at 796, quoting *Spokane Police Guild v. Liquor Control Board*, 112 Wn.2d 30, 38, 769 P.2d 283 (1989) The Opinion makes no claim that the information here withheld constitutes "the intimate details of one's personal and private life" nor fits within the privacy provisions of the Restatement.

V. ARGUMENT

By way of introduction, **r**eview should be accepted because

(1) The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court;

(2) the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals; and (3) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4)

By ordering the opinion published the Court of Appeals certified it met the criteria of RAP 12.3 which includes (1) the decision determines an unsettled or new question of law; (2) the decision modifies or clarifies or reverses an established principal of law; (3) it is of general public interest or importance; and/or (4) it conflicts with a prior opinion of the Court of Appeals.

Under the PRA proper application of the "privacy" exemption involves a three part test: (1) is the information "personal," RCW 42.56.230(3), i.e. "only the intimate details of one's personal and private life" *Dawson*, 120 Wn.2d at 796; *and* (2) would release of the information be "highly offensive to a reasonable person" RCW 42.56.050; *and* (3) would release of the information be "not of legitimate concern to the public" RCW 42.56.050?

The legislature commands the PRA be "liberally" construed to promote the goals of open government. RCW 42.56.030. The PRA is a "strongly worded mandate for open government." *Federal Way v. Koenig*, 167 Wn.2d 341, 344, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009), quoting *Rental Housing Ass'n of Puget Sound v. Des Moines*, 165 Wn.2d 525, 527, 199 P.3d 393 (2009) The agency bears the burden to prove an exemption to production applies.

RCW 42.56.550(1), *West v. Port of Olympia*, 183 Wn.App. 306, 311, 333 P.3d 488 (2014) The Act must be liberally construed, and its *exemptions must be narrowly construed*. RCW 42.56.030, *West*, 183 Wn.App. at 311

Any exemption to disclosure must be enumerated by the legislature. RCW 42.56.550(1) (any "refusal to permit public inspection and copying [must be] in accordance with a *statute* that exempts or prohibits disclosure...") (italics added)

The Court of Appeals did not apply the statutory test for the privacy exemption but made it up out of whole cloth. There is simply no per se statutory categorical exemption for personnel evaluations of public employees in the PRA; although the Court of Appeals read *Dawson* to create one. The Court of Appeals did not reconcile *Dawson's* claim that "information about public, on duty job performances should be disclosed" *Dawson*, 120 Wn.2d at 795 quoting *Ollie v. Highland School District* 203, 50 Wn.App. 639, 645, 749 P.2d 747, rev. den'd, 110 Wn.2d 1040 (1988). Nor did it recognize the *Dawson* opinion was premised on an evaluation "which does not discuss any specific instances of misconduct or of *the performance of public duties...*" (italics added) *Dawson* at 796 The trial court commented this "has to mean something" RP 8; however, accepted the City's argument it meant nothing, as did the Court of Appeals.

Under the Court of Appeals Opinion information in an evaluation that an employee was late to work, or didn't show up at all, or had perfect attendance, or was competent, or incompetent, or honest, or dishonest, or went to seminars to improve his skills or didn't, would all be exempt from public disclosure. Facts don't matter to the Court of Appeals analysis but do matter to the statutory privacy exemption which *is* fact based.

A. Review Should be granted because the Court of Appeals Opinion conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent on the meaning of "personal information" referenced in RCW 42.56.230, and raises an issue of substantial public interest which may only be resolved by the Supreme Court.

At the threshold of any privacy exemption claim is the presence of "personal information." Without it there is no exemption although with it the analysis continues to determine if its release would be "highly offensive to a reasonable person" and, if so, whether same is not of legitimate concern to the public.

Two lines of authority define "personal information;" however the Opinion follows neither. Rather it treats personnel evaluations regardless of content as "personal information", even if they consist in whole or part information describing *public* employment activities.

This conflicts with *Dawson* which favorably references the Spokane Police Guild's definition that relates "only to the intimate details of one's personal and private life,' which we contrasted to actions taking place in public." *Dawson*, 120 Wn.2d at 796 Thus the opinion conflicts with *Dawson* and *Spokane Police Guild* and should be reviewed for that reason.

A second line of authority defining "personal information" begins with *Hearst Corp.*, *v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 580 P.2d 246 (1978). Therein the Court relied upon Restatement (Second) of Torts sec. 652D., at 383 (1977) referencing the "private life" of another: "Sexual relations, for example, are normally entirely private matters, as are family quarrels, many unpleasant or disgraceful or humiliating illnesses, most intimate personal letters, most details of a man's life in his home, and some of his past history that he would rather forget." Restatement, supra, at 386

The legislature expressly adopted the *Hearst* definition. Laws of 1987, ch. 403, Sec. 2 at 1547 ("'privacy'…is intended to have the same meaning as the definition given the word by the Supreme Court in *Hearst*.") By any measure these redactions do not relate to one's private life but rather public job performance.

The most recent affirmation of the rule is found in *Washington*Public Employees Ass'n v. Washington State Center for Childhood,

__Wn.2d ___, 450 P.3d 601, 608 (Wash. 2019), rejecting the claim

employee birth dates associated with names are "personal information"

subject to exemption. The Court relied on *Hoppe* and *Predisik v. Spokane School Dist. No. 81*, 182 Wn.2d 896, 904 346 P.3d 737 (2015) to hold "The privacy protection afforded by the PRA is narrow, and it extends an individual the right of privacy "only in' "matter[s] concerning [their] private life." "

These and other Supreme Court cases conflict with the Opinion's outright claim workplace performance of public duties is always "personal information" exempt from disclosure without regard to the content.

Compare, e.g. *Cowles Publ'g Co. v. State Patrol*, 109 Wn.2d 712, 726, 748 P.2d 597 (1988) (police conduct while on the job "[is] not private, intimate, personal details of an officer's life" exempt from disclosure.)

Moreover, it is a matter of substantial public interest how *Dawson* should be construed or overruled, also justifying Supreme Court review.

Although petitioner reads *Dawson* to contradict the Opinion upon which it is supposedly based; only the Supreme Court may authoritatively deal with the meaning of *Dawson* let alone whether it lends itself to ambiguity or misstatement of the law. Aspects of *Dawson* support the proposition that it adhered to the traditional definition of "personal information" which relates to the details of one's private life rather than the performance of public duties; however, others construe it otherwise. At best, *Dawson* is unclear and has rightly or wrongly been construed to eviscerate

definitional precedents of "personal information." This in itself merits review as only the Supreme Court may overrule or authoritatively construe its own precedent.

B. Review should be granted because performance evaluations under existing precedent, including *Dawson*, are not categorically presumed to be highly offensive regardless of content.

Once again, the Opinion reads *Dawson* to create a categorical per se holding that personnel evaluations which do not discuss specific instances of misconduct are "presumed to be highly offensive." Slip Opinion p. 7 What is left out however is *Dawson's* text that this arm of the test is premised on the absence of discussion of "any specific instances of misconduct or *of the performance of public duties*." (italics added) *Dawson* 120 Wn.2d at 796 But here there was *only* discussion of the performance of public duties. This appears to be a repetition of the Opinion's failure to properly understand the meaning of "personal information." *Dawson* created no rule that public disclosure of "the performance of public duties" is "highly offensive," however that is the claim of the Opinion contrary to *West*, 183 Wn.App. at 315 ("...whether disclosure of particular information would be highly offensive to a

_

11

³ "...the disclosure of performance evaluations, which do not discuss specific instances of misconduct, is 'presumed to be highly offensive."

reasonable person must be determined on a case by case basis.") It is inconsistent with *Dawson* in this regard as well justifying review. *Dawson* does not immunize "performance evaluations" regardless of content, unlike this Opinion which should be reviewed.

Moreover, the Opinion's claim that exemption from disclosure is appropriate except "instances of misconduct" has no basis in the statute. Although instances of misconduct in the performance of public duties should not be exempt, why should instances of exemplary service? One purpose serviced by the PRA in the quest for open government is to allow the public to evaluate not only who is doing a bad job but also who is doing a good one. This seems to come out of thin air and doesn't make sense. Review is justified for this reason as well.

C. Review should be granted because facts regarding job performance of powerful City department heads are of legitimate concern to the public, based on inconsistence Court of Appeals Division III precedent

Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of Spokane, 99 Wn.App. 452, 453, 994 P.2d 267 (Div. 3, 2000) is inconsistent with the Opinion's holding that performance records of powerful department heads are not of legitimate public concern. Dawson held records relating to a deputy prosecutor are not; however a department head, like a city manager is much different. These men are not secretaries or janitors, they command

12

men's lives for better or worse. Based on its reading of *Dawson* the Opinion claimed as a legal proposition employee morale would suffer if evaluations were made public and supervisors would not provide candid evaluations.

These propositions are unsupported suppositions given the force of law without regard to the statutory text. *Dawson* may be explained by the nature of the duties of the deputy prosecutor which did not appear on their face to be of legitimate concern to the public, not whether government excuses for non-disclosure should be weighed in the balance. The statute references only "not of legitimate concern to the public." RCW 42.56.050 The only issue is the "legitimate concern of the public" not every possible consequence of public disclosure.

As in *Washington Public Employees*, 450 P.3d at para. 18, there may be legitimate concerns with the release of birth dates, but that is "insufficient to warrant its exemption from disclosure under the PRA." In short, the interest in non-disclosure is not a factor to be weighed under the statute, only the reasonable justification for seeking it. The claim that it is not reasonable to seek disclosure of job performance by important city officials undermines the PRA. Review should be granted based on the Opinion's misreading of *Dawson*, as well as *Spokane Research* and *Washington Public Employees*.

D. Review should be granted because the Opinion's failure to enforce the "brief explanation" requirement of RCW 42.56.210(3) violates Supreme Court precedent

The Opinion pays lip service to *Lakewood v. Koenig*, 182 Wn.2d 87, 343 P.3d 335 (2014) and *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 240 P.3d 120 (2010) but fails to follow them. RCW 42.56.210(3) requires "a brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the record withheld."

In *Lakewood*, as here, the City simply redacted documents with a citation to the claimed exemption without explanation as to why or how factually the document or redaction fit within the claimed exemption. The agency must identify "with particularity" the specific record withheld and the specific exemption authorizing the withholding. *Lakewood*, 182
Wn.2d at 94

When the exemption is categorical further explanation may not be required however when other exemptions are claimed "additional explanation is necessary to determine whether the exemption is properly invoked." *Id.* at 95 See also *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 846

Sanders held "Allowing the mere identification of a document and the claimed exemption to count as a 'brief explanation' would render the brief explanation clause superfluous." *Id.* at 846

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