# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/21/2020 4:29 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98807-2

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### THE CHURCH OF THE DIVINE EARTH,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent

#### RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### WILLIAM C. FOSBRE, City Attorney

MARGARET ELOFSON WSB# 23038 Attorney for Appellant

Tacoma City Attorney's Office 747 Market Street, Suite 1120 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 591-5885

#

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The petition for review should be denied because 1) the Court of Appeals correctly followed Supreme Court precedent of <u>Dawson v. Daly</u>, 120 Wn.2d 782, 845 P.2d 995 (1993); 2) the petitioner does not present any compelling reasoning or argument for overruling <u>Dawson</u>; and 3) the Court of Appeals correctly held that the City's detailed privilege log satisfied the requirement of a brief explanation of the exemptions claimed.

#### II. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The Church of the Divine Earth (Church) submitted a request for records on June 12, 2017, asking for "Job performance evaluations, comments on job performance, documents showing salary each of the past 5 years for Peter Huffman and Kurtis Kingsolver." CP 297. On June 24, 2017, less than two weeks later, the City provided responsive documents. CP 295-96. Portions of some of the responsive documents, the performance evaluations of Mr. Kingsolver and Mr. Huffman, had been redacted to remove the personal comments of the employees and of the supervisor performing the evaluations. CP 394- 51.

Along with the responsive documents, the City provided a privilege log that identified and explained the bases for redactions to the performance evaluations. CP 298.

The privilege log explained:

These records, consisting of performance evaluations which do not discuss specific instances of misconduct, are protected from disclosure and have been withheld in the entirety based on the following authority:

1

RCW 42.56.230 personal information

(3) Personal information in files maintained for employees, appointees, or elected officials of any public agency to the extent that disclosure would violate their right to privacy.

RCW 42.56.050 Invasion of privacy, when. A person's "right to privacy," "privacy," or "personal privacy," as these terms are used in this chapter, is invaded or violated only if disclosure of information about the person:

(1) Would be highly offensive to a reasonable person, and (2) is not of legitimate concern to the public. The provisions of this chapter dealing with the right to privacy in certain public records do not create any right of privacy beyond those rights that are specific in this chapter as express exemptions from the public's right to inspect, examine, or copy public records. -AND- **Dawson v. Daly, 120 Wn.2d 782,797 (1993).** 

CP 298 (emphasis in original).

On November 7, 2017, the Church filed its complaint in this lawsuit,

alleging the City violated the Public Records Act by redacting portions of the performance evaluations. The Church also alleged that the brief explanations for the exemptions were insufficient.

The Church filed a motion for summary judgment and motion for *in camera* review. The City agreed with the request for *in camera* review. The Court, Hon. Kathryn Nelson, denied the Church's motion for summary judgment on May 18, 2018, but granted the request for an *in camera* review. CP 385-86.

On June 29, 2018, Judge Nelson issued her decision on the *in camera* review. She ruled that "*Dawson* was controlling" and that under *Dawson* "all redactions reviewed in camera were appropriate." CP 391-392. Judge Nelson confirmed that the unredacted documents did not contain any instances of misconduct. She further ruled that the privilege log and the brief explanations in the log were appropriate. Id.

The City therefore noted a motion for summary judgment and asked the Court to dismiss the case. The case was transferred to Judge Grant Blinn, and like Judge Nelson, Judge Blinn ruled that the case was controlled by <u>Dawson v. Daly</u>, and that under <u>Dawson</u>, the City's redactions were proper and that the City's privilege log complied with the brief explanation requirement as interpreted by various reported cases. CP 701- 03.

Thereafter, the Church appealed. Division II, in a published opinion, affirmed the rulings of the Superior Court. <u>Church</u>, 13 Wn. App. 497, \_\_\_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_\_ (Div II, April 14, 2020).

#### III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any other appellate decisions and it explicitly relied on the controlling Supreme Court authority of *Dawson v. Daly* in holding that employee performance evaluations are exempt from disclosure.

"Evaluations of public employees ordinarily are not subject to public disclosure" and are exempt under RCW 42.56.050. <u>Spokane Research v.</u> <u>City of Spokane</u>, 99 Wn. App.452, 456, 994 P.2d 267 (2000).

"Employee evaluations qualify as personal information that bears on the competence of the subject employee." <u>Dawson v. Daly</u>, 120 Wn.2d 782, 797, 845 P.2d 995 (1993), overruled in part on other grounds, <u>Soter v.</u> <u>Cowles Pub.</u>, 162 Wn.2d 716, 174 P.3d 60 2007)). The "sensitivity of any human being to disclosure of information that may be taken to bear on his or her basic competence is sufficiently well known to be appropriate subject of judicial notice." <u>Dawson</u>, at 797 (quoting <u>Detroit Edison Co., v. NLRB</u>, 440 U. S. 301, 318, 59 L. Ed.2d 333, 99 S. Ct. 1123 (1979)). This "sensitivity goes beyond mere embarrassment, which alone is insufficient grounds for nondisclosure under [the PRA]." <u>Dawson</u>, at 797. Even favorable information about an employee that is contained in performance evaluations "is personal information and its release is an invasion of privacy." <u>Celmins v. United States Dep't of Treasury</u>, 457 F. Supp. 13, 15 (D.D.C. 1977). See also <u>Smith v. Dep't of Labor</u>, 798 F. Supp. 2d 274 (D.D. Ct. 2011) (Performance appraisals are exempt from production in a FOIA request).

Here, the City redacted the personal comments of the employee and the employer from the annual performance evaluations before producing the evaluations to the requestor. The Church argues that the material redacted was not subject to exemption. The Church argues that <u>Dawson</u> defined "personal information" as the "intimate details of one's personal and private life" and therefore the Court of Appeals and the Superior Courts did not correctly apply <u>Dawson</u> to the documents at issue. Petition for Review, at 6. But the <u>Dawson</u> court did not utilize that definition of "personal information."

In <u>Dawson</u>, the Court indicated that when "[s]peaking generally about the right of privacy, we have stated that the right of privacy applies 'only to the intimate details of one's personal and private life,' which we contrasted to actions taking place in public that were observed by 40 other people." <u>Dawson</u>, at 796. The <u>Dawson</u> Court went on to state that it "has not previously been considered in this jurisdiction" whether performance evaluations are personal information entitled to a right of privacy <u>Id.</u> The Court identified other jurisdictions that have determined that performance evaluations are subject to a right of privacy, and the <u>Dawson</u> court concluded, "We agree that employee evaluations contain personal information within the meaning of RCW 42.17.310(1)(b)." Thus, the <u>Dawson</u> court clearly declined to apply the limited definition of "personal information" quoted by the Church.

Furthermore, <u>Dawson</u> explained why it rejected limiting "personal information" to just the intimate details of one's private life. The Court stated that performance evaluations contain the type of personal information that public employees would find highly offensive if it were disclosed. The <u>Dawson</u> court concluded that "disclosure of performance evaluations, which do not discuss specific instances of misconduct, is presumed to be highly offensive within the meaning of RCW 42.17.255 [recodified at RCW 42.56.050]". <u>Dawson</u>, at 797. This presumption establishes the offensiveness prong, though it "may be overcome in some cases" such as where identifying information may be removed such that an employee's privacy is protected. <u>Dawson</u>, at 797. Here, the Church made no effort to overcome the presumption.

But more importantly, the Church fails to apply the definition of "personal information" developed by the <u>Dawson</u> court for use in the

5

analysis of performance evaluations as public records. In order to make its claim that there is a conflict with existing case law, the Church simply ignores all of this discussion and the fact that the Supreme Court moved beyond the general definition of "personal information" in the context of public records requests that sought employee performance evaluations. However, both the Superior Courts and the Court of Appeals correctly relied on <u>Dawson</u> and its progeny in determining that the performance evaluations of Huffman and Kingsolver contained personal information the release of which would be highly offensive to a reasonable person.

The Church also argues that the trial court and the appellate court failed to explain how the phrase "performance of public duties" modifies the personal information analysis. The phrase "performance of public duties" refers to the <u>Dawson</u>'s court quotation from <u>Ollie v. Highland Sch.</u> <u>Dist. 203</u>, 50 Wn. App. 639, 645, 749 P.2d 757, <u>review denied</u>, 110 Wn.2d 1040 (1988). In <u>Ollie</u>, the plaintiff sought not only the performance evaluations of employees but also the personnel records of employees. <u>Ollie</u>, at 645. The school district declined to produce any part of the personnel record, which included much more than just the performance evaluations.

On appeal, the appellate court held that "not all the information contained in personnel evaluations and personnel records of school district employees is privileged; information about public, on-duty job performances should be disclosed." <u>Id</u>. In other words, the <u>Ollie</u> court used

the phrase to distinguish public job performance from non-public performance. Personnel records are likely to contain records of "public, onduty job performance" and though such records are contained in a personnel file, they might not be necessarily private and exempt from production. The Church's argument concerning this phrase simply ignores the fact that the records being discussed in <u>Ollie</u> were not just performance evaluations done in a confidential, one-on-one meeting between the employee and the supervisor.

# **B.** There is no public concern that would justify the harm that will be caused to government administration.

In analyzing performance evaluations, once the records are established as personal information the disclosure of which would be highly offensive, the exemption requires that there is an absence of a legitimate public concern in their disclosure. In this context, the term "legitimate" means "reasonable." <u>Dawson</u>, at 798. Thus, it is appropriate to balance the public interest in disclosure against the public interest in the efficient administration of government." <u>Id.</u> In balancing those interests, the courts have observed that "[e]valuations of public employees [are] of small public concern." Spokane Research, at 456.

On the other hand, disclosure of the evaluations could harm governmental function. It is not reasonable to require "disclosure where the public interest in efficient government could be harmed significantly more than the public would be served by disclosure." <u>Dawson</u>, at 798. The "PRA's mandate for broad disclosure is not absolute." <u>Resident Action</u> <u>Council v. Seattle Hous. Auth.</u>, 177 Wn.2d 417, 432, 300 P.3d 376 (2013). Exemptions have been created to "exempt from public inspection those categories of public records most capable of causing substantial damage to the privacy rights of citizens or damage to vital functions of government." <u>Ameriquest Mortg. Co., v. Office of Attorney Gen.</u>, 177 Wn.2d 467, 486, 300 P.3d 799 (2013); see also Laws of 2007, ch. 198, §1 ("The legislature recognizes that public disclosure exemptions are enacted to meet objectives that are determined to be in the public interest.").

The Washington courts have held that employee performance evaluations fall within RCW 42.56.050's invasion of privacy exemption. If agencies were required to disclose employee performance evaluations "employee morale would be seriously undermined," leading to a "reduction in the quality of performance by these employees." <u>Id.</u> at 799. In addition, "disclosure could cause even greater harm to the public by making supervisors reluctant to give candid evaluations." <u>Id.</u> Thus, in the absence of specific instances of misconduct, there is no reasonable or legitimate public concern which might require the agency to disclose an employee performance evaluations. <u>Id.</u> at 799- 800. "[R]equiring disclosure where the public interest in efficient government could be harmed significantly more than the public would be served by disclosure is not reasonable. Therefore, in such a case, the public concern is not legitimate." <u>Id.</u> at 798.

For example, the issue of disclosing performance evaluations was the focus in <u>Brown v. Seattle Public School</u>, 71 Wn. App. 613, 860 P.2d

1059 (1993), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1031 (1994). In Brown, the requestor sought the personnel records of the school principal. The requestor in Brown made the same arguments that the Church makes in the instant case: that the PRA favors disclosure; that exemptions are to be narrowly construed; that the documents were not highly offensive; and that the records of the school's top administrator were of legitimate concern to the public. The trial court had ordered their production, but the appellate court reversed.

In holding that the performance evaluations should not be produced, the appellate court noted that public education needs effective evaluation systems of teachers and administrators. <u>Brown</u>, at 618-19. The District's system would be "undermined if it is stripped of confidentiality." <u>Id</u>. Citing <u>Dawson</u>, the <u>Brown</u> court explained that the harm to the evaluation system outweighs the public interest in disclosure. The court stated that "if disclosure of these evaluations is allowed the quality of public employee performance will suffer because employees will not receive the guidance and constructive criticism required for them to improve performance and increase their efficiency." <u>Id.</u> at 619-20.

The <u>Brown</u> court acknowledged that there was an argument to be made that there were concerns about the performance of the principal, because he was the school's top administrator, but these concerns fell short of specific instances of misconduct. The Court stated that the "harm outweighs the public interest in disclosure in cases where a review reveals that the evaluations do not discuss specific instances of misconduct or public job performance." <u>Brown</u>, at 619.

The only case in which the Washington courts have held that a performance evaluation of a public employee should be disclosed because of the weight of a legitimate public concern when balanced against privacy concerns is Spokane Research v. City of Spokane, 99 Wn. App. 452, 994 P.2d 267 (2000). In that case, the requestor sought the evaluation of the City Manager of Spokane, whose evaluation was done by an outside consulting firm with input from 125 citizen surveys. The Court in Spokane <u>Research</u> took great care to distinguish the positon of City Manager from other city employees. The court reasoned that the City Manager is not like a regular public employee because the "City Manager is the City's chief executive officer, its leader and a public figure." Id. at 457. The performance of the City Manager is a legitimate subject of public debate. Id. Whereas most public employees reasonably expect that their evaluations will remain confidential, the City Manager has no such expectation because the City Council's job is to discuss and decide in a public forum whether the employment of the City Manager should be continued. Id.

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